SEMMELWEIS EGYETEM DOKTORI ISKOLA

Ph.D. értekezések

2825.

FÜLÖP GÁBOR

Hormonális szabályozó mechanizmusok című program

Programvezető: Dr. Igaz Péter, egyetemi tanár Témavezető: Dr. Piróth Zsolt, szintvezető főorvos

Measurement, comparison, and application of FFR and nonhyperemic Pd/Pa to estimate prognosis in non-culprit vessels of patients with acute coronary syndrome

PhD thesis Gábor Fülöp, MD

Károly Rácz Doctoral School of Clinical Medicine Semmelweis University





Supervisor:

Zsolt Piróth, MD, PhD

Official reviewers:

András Komócsi, MD, DSc. Endre Zima, MD, PhD

Head of the Complex Examination Committee:

Members of the Complex Examination Committee:

Zoltán Járai, MD, PhD

Jenő Szolnoky, MD, PhD István Osztheimer, MD, PhD

Budapest 2022

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS			
1. INTRODUCTION			
1.1 Invasive functional tests			
1.1.1 Hyperemic functional index (fractional flow reserve)			
1.1.2 Non-hyperemic functional indexes			
1.1.2.1 Resting whole cycle Pd/Pa	9		
1.1.2.2 Instantaneous wave-free ratio (iFR)	9		
1.1.2.3 Resting full cycle ratio (RFR)	11		
1.1.2.4 Diastolic pressure ratio (dPR),			
diastolic hyperemia free ratio (DFR)	11		
1.2 Other indexes of coronary physiology	11		
1.3 Discrepancy between hyperemic and non-hyperemic functional indexes			
1.4 Prognosis in case of discrepant functional indexes			
1.5 Combined functional testing	16		
1.6 Revascularization of non-culprit vessels in ACS			
1.6.1 Angiographic assessment of non-culprit vessels in ACS	17		
1.6.2 Invasive functional testing in ACS			
1.6.2.1. Hyperemic test/fractional flow reserve	19		
1.6.2.2. Non-hyperemic testing: iFR and Pd/Pa	21		
1.6.3 Revascularization guided by functional testing in ACS patients	22		
2. OBJECTIVES	25		
3. METHODS			
3.1 Patients	26		
3.2 Endpoints	26		
3.3 Statistical analysis	27		
4. RESULTS	28		
4.1 Patients, vessels, and physiology parameters	28		
4.2 Correlation of FFR and resting Pd/Pa			
4.3 Endpoints, the predictive power of FFR versus resting Pd/Pa	31		
4.4 Outcome of vessels with discrepant FFR and resting Pd/Pa values	34		

5. DISCUSSION	37
6. CONCLUSIONS	40
7. SUMMARY	41
8. REFERENCES	42
9. BIBLIOGRAPHY OF THE CANDIDATE'S PUBLICATIONS	56
10. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	58

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACS	acute coronary syndrome	
AUC	area under the curve	
ΔP	change in pressure	
CCS	chronic coronary syndrome	
CFR	coronary flow reserve	
CRP	C-reactive protein	
CV	cardiovascular	
DICOM	Digital imaging and communications in medicine	
DFR	diastolic hyperemia-free ratio	
dPR	diastolic pressure ratio	
DS	diameter stenosis	
ESC	European Society of Cardiology	
F	viscous friction pressure loss coefficient	
FFR	fractional flow reserve	
iFR	instantaneous wave-free ratio	
IMR	index of microcirculatory resistance	
IRA	infarct-related artery	
IVUS	intravascular ultrasound	
LAD	left anterior descending	
Lcx	left circumflex	
LVEDP	left ventricular end-diastolic pressure	
MACE	major adverse cardiovascular event	
MI	myocardial infarction	
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging	
nIRA	non-infarct related artery	
NSTE-ACS	non-ST-elevation acute coronary syndrome	
OCT	optical coherence tomography	
PCI	percutaneous coronary intervention	
Pd/Pa	distal coronary pressure/aortic pressure	
PET	positron emission tomography	

QCA	quantitative coronary angiography	
Qsmax	maximal coronary flow during hyperemia	
Qnmax	maximal coronary flow under normal circumstances	
RCA	right coronary artery	
RFR	resting full-cycle ratio	
ROC	receiver operating characteristic	
RRR	resistive reserve ratio	
S	flow separation pressure loss coefficient	
SCD	stable coronary disease	
STEMI	ST-elevation myocardial infarction	
TVF	target vessel failure	
TVMI	target vessel myocardial infarction	
TVR	target vessel revascularization	
V	velocity	

1. INTRODUCTION

Coronary artery disease is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide as well as nationwide in Hungary [1]. We use both non-invasive as well as invasive methods to diagnose and assess the severity or prognosis of ischemic heart disease. To assess disease burden, we use coronary angiography. This gives us an "anatomical" result and the functional severity is not evident simply by stenosis grade. Also, coronary angiography has limitations in the assessment of eccentric lesions and diffuse disease, e.g., if the contrast filling is suboptimal or if there is an overlap of vessels. Functional severity can be assessed based on the result of non-invasive diagnostic tests (e.g., stress echocardiography, myocardial perfusion scan, etc.). It is important since symptoms and prognosis can be improved with the revascularization of functionally significant lesions/vessels. However, frequently no non-invasive assessment of ischemia has been performed prior to coronary angiography. Invasive functional testing has been developed by which we can assess the potential of lesions to produce ischemia with adequate sensitivity and specificity. There are some special modifications of these tests by which the assessment of diffuse or multiplex lesions is also possible [2].

1.1 Invasive functional tests

Invasive functional tests can be divided broadly into hyperemic and non-hyperemic tests (**Table 1**). The former uses a vasodilating agent (most frequently by the intravenous administration of adenosine at 140 μ g/kg/min or by intracoronary bolus) to achieve maximal hyperemia whereas the other types are performed in a resting state without the administration of such agents.

 Table 1 Invasive functional indexes

Hyperemic index	
FFR (fractional flow reserve)	Distal to aortic mean pressure during maximal hyperemia
Non-hyperemic indexes	
Pd/Pa	Distal coronary to aortic mean pressure without hyperemia
iFR (instantaneous wave-free ratio)	Distal to aortic pressure measured during the special phase of diastole (wave-free period)
RFR (resting full-cycle ratio)	Lowest Pd/Pa during the whole cardiac cycle
DFR (diastolic hyperemia-free ratio)	Mean Pd/Pa averaged over five consecutive cycles where Pa is falling, and the actual/instantaneous Pa is lower than the mean Pa
dPR (diastolic pressure ratio)	Pd/Pa measured during the whole diastolic phase

1.1.1 Hyperemic functional index (fractional flow reserve)

The "gold standard" of invasive functional testing is fractional flow reserve (FFR) with its introduction around three decades ago [3]. Fractional flow reserve in a given coronary vessel is the ratio of maximal flow (Qsmax) measured during hyperemia compared to the theoretical maximal flow (Qnmax) under normal conditions (no disease present). The normal value is 1.0. Since in general, the measurement of flow is technically demanding and time-consuming in humans, fractional flow reserve measurement is achieved with simultaneous recording of pressure in the aorta and distal part of the coronary vessel with the help of a pressure wire which has a sensor close to the tip. Maximal hyperemia would minimize resistance and as such, the flow will be proportional to perfusion pressure. The validity, reproducibility, and good correlation with non-invasive investigations of ischemia as well as clinical benefit of applying FFR-guidance in multivessel percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) have been investigated and verified in several studies (DEFER, FAME, FAME 2) [4, 5, 6]. The DEFER trial has a follow-up period of up to 15 years showing no evidence of harm if functionally non-significant lesions were not revascularized based upon their FFR value and even signalled harm with a higher number of myocardial infarctions in patients who were revascularized despite a non-ischemic fractional flow reserve value compared to medical therapy alone.

Coronary revascularization is recommended if the value of FFR is ≤ 0.80 and medical therapy is indicated if it is >0.80 [7]. It has been shown that FFR-guided PCI compared to PCI by angiography alone can decrease the number of revascularizations significantly along with a lower rate of MACE [8, 9]. FFR measured immediately after PCI (post-PCI FFR) has a prognostic value – the higher the post-PCI value of fractional flow reserve, the better the outcome [10, 11].

FFR measurement has a Class I recommendation by the European Society of Cardiology in stable patients with angina to identify hemodynamic significance in intermediate lesions if evidence of ischemia is not available and should be utilized in multivessel disease in this patient population [12]. Despite the well-established evidence of using FFR in clinical decision-making during coronary angiography, there

is still a low rate of utilization of this technique [13]. Possible explanations include the longer duration of the examination, higher costs, possible – at times even severe – complications such as wire or guide-induced dissection resulting in acute ischemia as well as the possible side effects of adenosine including hypotension, dyspnea (especially in patients with underlying lung disease). It is worth mentioning that the measurement should be performed by knowing and avoiding the possible pitfalls and the FFR-value measured should be interpreted in the clinical context.

1.1.2 Non-hyperemic functional indexes

The other major group of functional invasive tests is the so-called non-hyperemic pressure ratios (NHPR) which have been examined in the last decade. During these measurements there is no need to administer vasodilating substances, therefore the duration of the study can potentially be shortened, cost is less, and the side effects of vasodilators can be avoided.

These functional indexes measure pressure at different parts of the cardiac cycle, taking into account the whole cycle (e.g., resting Pd/Pa, RFR) or the total or specific part of the diastolic phase (iFR, dPR, DFR).

1.1.2.1 Resting whole cycle Pd/Pa

Due to its simplicity resting whole-cycle Pd/Pa can be measured when determining any functional index with a pressure wire. In general, it has a diagnostic accuracy of around 80% compared to FFR when using a cut-off of ≤ 0.91 [14].

1.1.2.2 Instantaneous wave-free ratio (iFR)

The instantaneous wave-free ratio (iFR, Philips Volcano Corporation, San Diego, California, USA) was the first non-hyperemic pressure ratio that was introduced into

the market and became available for clinical use. It measures Pd/Pa ratio during a special part of diastole, the so-called wave-free period (starting at 25% of the whole diastolic cycle after the beginning diastole and ending 5 ms before the end of diastole) when theoretically forward and backward waves are minimal and microvascular resistance is stable and theoretically comparable to hyperemia induced minimal microvascular resistance [14, 15]. During ventricular contraction early in systole, there is a forward flow generated in the coronary vessels which is attenuated by the compression of the microvasculature. In diastole, there is a "suction" wave moving backward through the heart vessels which is the most important wave in the initiation of forward coronary blood flow [16]. There have been studies to show a good correlation with fractional flow reserve with a cut-off of ≤ 0.89 corresponding to a fractional flow reserve value of ≤ 0.80 [17]. Compared to fractional flow reserve, diagnostic accuracy is around 80% (similar to resting Pd/Pa) and as mentioned earlier, a specific phase of the diastolic cycle is needed for measurement along with proprietary software [18, 19].

Two major clinical studies verified the practical utility, non-inferiority compared to fractional flow reserve guided percutaneous coronary intervention in mostly stable patients with intermediate coronary artery disease with regards to major adverse cardiovascular events in 1 year using a cut-off of 0.89 (IFR-SWEDEHEART, DEFINE-FLAIR). In these studies, procedure time and vasodilator-induced, procedure-related side effects/symptoms were significantly higher in the fractional flow reserve guided arms [20, 21].

In the 2019 Guideline of the European Society of Cardiology in patients with chronic coronary syndrome, the assessment of 50-90% coronary stenoses by instantaneous wave-free ratio or fractional flow reserve are both recommended in symptomatic patients or in case of high event risk [22].

Besides instantaneous wave-free ratio, there have been other non-hyperemic pressure ratios developed and introduced that measure pressure during specific periods including the whole cardiac cycle, as well as the whole period or part of the diastolic cycle.

1.1.2.3 Resting full-cycle ratio (RFR)

The resting full-cycle ratio (RFR) is the lowest instantaneous filtered Pd/Pa measured during the whole cardiac cycle (over 5 beats). When compared to the instantaneous wave-free ratio in a validation study, it was almost identical in diagnostic performance (97.4%). However, it was detected outside diastole in about 12% of all measurements; this finding was around 32% if measured in the right coronary artery [23]. This might explain the finding that the sensitivity of instantaneous wave-free ratio is significantly decreased if measurements are performed in the right coronary artery compared to the left (40.6% vs. 73.2%, P<0.001). Therefore, the validity of non-hyperemic pressure index evaluation of the RCA might be questionable [24].

1.1.2.4 Diastolic pressure ratio (dPR), diastolic hyperemia free ratio (DFR)

Diastolic pressure ratio (dPR) measures average Pd/Pa during the whole diastolic cycle over 5 beats. Diastolic hyperemia free ratio (DFR; Boston Scientific, Natick, Massachusetts, USA) measures mean Pd/Pa during diastole when actual Pa is lower than mean Pa and constantly decreasing over 5 beats (resulting in easier identification of the diastolic cycle if the dicrotic notch is not visible well enough due to dampened pressure tracings).

Studies verified the good correlation of these indexes with instantaneous wave-free ratio (cut-off ≤ 0.89) and the general perception is that these non-hyperemic indexes are interchangeable, however, clinical outcome studies are lacking except for iFR [25].

1.2 Other indexes of coronary physiology

These are used to assess global blood supply or the microvasculature, but mainly for investigational purposes.

CFR - coronary flow reserve is the maximal coronary flow compared to resting flow; in essence, gives us an index of stress-related coronary flow. It is normal if above 2. Epicardial vessels, microvasculature, contractility, and preload all affect its value. It cannot differentiate between epicardial and distal, microvascular disease in the case of ischemia.

IMR - index of microcirculatory resistance can be measured with a wire capable of simultaneous pressure and temperature recordings; it can be defined from distal coronary pressure and mean hyperemic transit time (which is related to absolute flow). Epicardial disease and hemodynamic changes (e.g., blood pressure and heart rate) would not affect it significantly. It is considered abnormal if above 25.

RRR - resistive reserve ratio records the ability of the microvascular resistance to change after a vasodilating, hyperemic agent (ratio of microvascular resistance at rest and after hyperemia).

1.3 Discrepancy between hyperemic and non-hyperemic functional indexes

These two types of measurements (hyperemic vs. non-hyperemic index, e.g., fractional flow reserve vs. instantaneous wave-free ratio) used simultaneously show different values in a given lesion or vessel in approximately 20% of cases. In a study, this difference reached 40% (albeit there the instantaneous wave-free ratio cut-off for significance was ≤ 0.83) [26]. There was also a significant change in iFR after adenosine administration which questions its true independence from hyperemia (wave-free period being a period of minimal resistance similar to hyperemia-induced states). Not only these differences were examined, but also the concept of true replacement of the hyperemic functional indexes by non-hyperemia which resembles the physiological condition of exertion (similarly to the non-invasive tests to assess ischemia) and therefore the ability to predict changes under stress can be better estimated by hyperemic functional indexes.

There have been several investigations performed to try to explain these differences.

The location of the stenosis can have an impact on the diagnostic accuracy when comparing the instantaneous wave-free ratio or Pd/Pa to fractional flow reserve (≤ 0.80 as a reference standard). When investigating measurements in the left main or proximal LAD compared to other vessels, non-hyperemic indexes (Pd/Pa or iFR) had a lower accuracy. This was mainly driven by a higher incidence of false-negative values in both cases. This difference in measurement is likely related to the larger myocardial area supplied by the left main and proximal left anterior descending artery compared to the left circumflex and right coronary artery. This leads to a higher rise in coronary blood flow from baseline during maximal hyperemia and therefore resulting in an increased pressure gradient and lower fractional flow reserve value [27].

On the contrary to this finding, in a substudy of the DEFINE–FLAIR population, instantaneous wave-free ratio guided deferral of percutaneous coronary intervention was similar in outcome compared to fractional flow reserve guided deferral when measured in lesions of coronary vessels excluding the left anterior descending artery. In lesions of the left anterior descending artery, the authors claimed better outcomes if the intervention was deferred using instantaneous wave-free ratio compared to fractional flow reserve [28].

Reaction to hyperemic agents and microvascular disease might also explain these differences between hyperemic and non-hyperemic pressure indexes. The loss of pressure (ΔP) and its relation to flow velocity (V) secondary to stenosis can be described by the equation of $\Delta P = FV + SV^2$. S is the flow separation pressure loss coefficient while F is the viscous friction pressure loss coefficient. If flow is massively increased by the induction of hyperemia, the drop in distal coronary pressure will be significant and FFR will be recorded as low in spite of a low resting gradient (resulting in normal resting indexes). On the other hand, in long moderate lesions, high resting gradients may change only minimally during hyperemia. Therefore, two different stenoses with similar resting gradients (equal iFRs) can show completely different responses to hyperemia (low or high FFRs).

This difference was shown in a post hoc analysis which was performed of the largest combined pressure and Doppler flow velocity registry (IDEAL [Iberian-Dutch-English] collaborators study) investigating intermediate stenoses comparing baseline (iFR) and hyperemic measurements (FFR) including coronary flow reserve (CFR - whole cycle

hyperemic flow velocity/whole cycle baseline flow velocity) in concordant and discordant iFR/FFR groups as well as unobstructed vessels [29]. CFR was significantly higher in the FFR positive and iFR negative (negative discordant) group compared to the FFR negative/iFR positive (positive discordant) group. The former was similar to the concordant iFR negative/FFR negative as well as an unobstructed vessel reference group, whereas the latter was similar to the concordant FFR positive/iFR positive group. Hyperemic coronary flow velocity differences explained the disagreement between these groups. Also, when comparing the discordant groups there was a higher prevalence of diabetes in the FFR negative/iFR positive group likely reflecting the higher likelihood of microvascular disease causing a decreased response to vasodilation resulting in higher FFR values.

Left ventricular end diastolic pressure (LVEDP) and diastolic dysfunction might also play a role in the discordance between iFR and FFR. A significantly higher iFR and FFR discordance were found in patients with an elevated LVEDP and diastolic dysfunction compared to normal [30, 31].

When investigating the difference between the two physiologic indexes several clinical as well as angiographic factors have been identified. It was found that diabetes, smaller vessels, female gender, and higher grade of stenosis were significantly associated with low iFR among high FFR groups (positive discordance likely secondary to microvascular disease causing an impaired response to vasodilation) whereas male gender and lower grade of stenosis were seen in the high iFR group (negative discordance) [32]. The presence of end-stage renal disease with hemodialysis as well as valvular heart disease influences iFR and FFR measurements.

These observations were confirmed in other studies and other factors have also been investigated. Younger age is associated with low FFR and high iFR, whereas older age is the opposite [33]. Left main or LAD location of the stenosis showed negative discordance in studies [27, 33]. Another resting index, the RFR was compared to FFR in these stenosis locations and an opposite result was found showing positive RFR values in negative FFR cases which underlines the role of complex factors contributing to differences in coronary physiology [34].

Not only location but also the distribution of coronary artery disease can affect iFR/FFR discordance. Focal disease more often causes negative discordance whereas diffuse disease is associated with positive discordance [35].

Technical considerations should also be taken into account when comparing these functional indexes. During hyperemia-induced vasodilation, trans-stenotic gradients are higher, and therefore technical errors causing a pressure drift might have a lower relative effect on a given measurement, whereas when using non-hyperemic ratios, smaller pressure changes might have a more significant effect and even lead to lesion over- or underestimation if the absolute number is close to the cut-off value. There is a higher likelihood of discrepant values also if the measurements are around the prespecified cut-off values (borderline lesions).

When comparing invasive physiological indexes, iFR, FFR, and Pd/P had similar diagnostic accuracy compared to PET-derived coronary flow reserve (CFR: ratio of stress myocardial blood flow to resting myocardial blood flow in target segments), but for relative flow reserve (ratio of stress myocardial blood flow after a stenosis compared to stress myocardial blood flow in normal segments) FFR had better discrimination ability [36].

1.4 Prognosis in case of discrepant functional indexes

It is not clear completely, how this discrepancy in resting and hyperemic indexes would affect prognosis but there are some data regarding the potential prognostic value if these two indexes are not concordant. In a study of 596 patients and 840 vessels, FFR and iFR were measured at the same time. The patients investigated were mostly stable (around 80% with chronic coronary syndrome (CCS) and 20% with acute coronary syndrome (ACS)). Vasodilating capacity was lowest in the low iFR/high FFR group, whereas the highest capacity was recorded in the high iFR/low FFR group. There was no significant difference in outcome in these groups with discordant resting and hyperemic values in 5 years (high iFR/lowFFR or low iFR/high FFR) compared to the high iFR/high FFR group. On the other hand, the concordant low iFR/low FFR group had the worst prognosis [37].

Similarly to the previous study, despite the differences mentioned in these two physiologic indexes in the diabetic population, a substudy of the diabetic patients of the DEFINE-FLAIR study showed that the two types of guidance (iFR vs. FFR to decide to revascularize or not) resulted in no major difference in terms of major adverse cardiovascular events and safety was comparable at one year. Patients with diabetes had a significantly higher risk of major adverse cardiovascular events compared to the non-diabetic patient group [38].

1.5 Combined functional testing

We can change the cut-off values of iFR and thereby can decrease the need for hyperemic testing using a hybrid algorythm. If we change the cut-off of iFR to ≤ 0.85 (positive) and ≥ 0.94 (negative) and perform hyperemic testing only in the 0.86-0.93 (grey) zone, the diagnosis will be correct in 95% of the cases using FFR as the gold standard and almost 2/3 of the cases would not need hyperemic testing. On the other hand, the two new cut-off values would need to be tested by other methods of ischemia detection to see if we can clearly define a functionally significant lesion or not using these thresholds [39].

Similar results were found in another study; iFR (≤ 0.90) and Pd/Pa (≤ 0.92) were the cut-off values used. The grey zone was 0.86 to 0.93 for iFR and 0.87 to 0.94 for Pd/Pa where hyperemic testing was performed. Around 50% of cases did not need adenosine, but still, around 10% were misclassified if compared to an FFR ≤ 80 . There was a higher rate of misclassification in proximal vessels [40].

1.6 Revascularization of non-culprit vessels in ACS

In acute coronary syndrome, culprit lesions should be revascularized according to the latest guidelines. There is still some uncertainty regarding revascularization decisions in non-culprit vessels in ACS in our everyday practice.

Complete revascularization is recommended in STEMI prior to discharge according to the ESC (Class IIa; Level of evidence A); complete revascularization is recommended in NSTE-ACS (Class IIa; Level of evidence C) and non-culprit lesions can be intervened upon during the index PCI with the use of fractional flow reserve (Class IIb; Level of evidence B) [12, 41]. Prior to complete revascularization, we should consider co-morbidities, the angiographic picture, patient preference, and the actual clinical context (routine non-infarct-related artery intervention is not recommended in cardiogenic shock in the same setting). Non-culprit vessels can be assessed by angiography, by using functional indexes, or with the help of intracoronary imaging. Non-invasive functional indexes (e.g., nuclear imaging, stress echocardiography, or MRI) do not have a role in the acute setting but might be utilized in the subacute or chronic phase.

1.6.1 Angiographic assessment of non-culprit vessels in ACS

During coronary angiography, lesion assessment is performed by visual assessment or software-aided quantitative coronary angiography. There is substantial variability among observers as to lesion classification; a disagreement is found in around 30% [42]. This led to the introduction of contour detection algorithms in the '70s, later with digital computation [43] which was further improved in the '80s by the DICOM system (Digital Imaging and Communications in Medicine) as well as densitometry and 3D QCA.

Coronary angiography - even if supported by quantitative assessment - has certain limitations. Besides the above-mentioned inter-observer variability, due to eccentricity, vessel overlap, or inadequate filling by contrast the severity of a certain lesion can be under- or overestimated.

Despite these limitations, there are several studies that investigated the usefulness of angiography to find significant non-culprit vessels and to decide whether revascularization is beneficial. In an observational cohort study of 21857 patients with NSTE-ACS, complete revascularization with choosing angiographically significant

non-culprit lesions (\geq 75% diameter stenosis) resulted in a better long-term outcome with decreased total mortality compared to culprit-only intervention (22.5% complete revascularization vs. 25.9% culprit vessel intervention; P= 0.0005) with a mean follow-up of 4.1 years, although initial in-hospital mortality was increased [44].

Similar results were seen in STEMI patients with multivessel disease. The PRAMI study (2013) randomizing ~500 patients showed a significantly better outcome with a mean follow-up of 23 months in terms of combined MACE (a composite of cardiovascular mortality, non-fatal myocardial infarction, and revascularization for refractory angina with confirmed ischemia), but also in terms of cardiovascular mortality and myocardial infarction combined when non-culprit vessels were revascularized based upon angiographic assessment (a significant lesion was defined as \geq 50% diameter stenosis) compared to the culprit–only intervention [45]. Long-term follow-up of the CvLPRIT study (2019) randomizing ~300 patients showed a significantly better outcome in terms of combined MACE (a composite of all-cause mortality, heart failure, revascularization for angina with confirmed ischemia, and myocardial infarction) with a mean follow-up of 5.6 years, but also in terms of all-cause mortality and myocardial infarction when non-culprit vessels were revascularized based upon angiographic assessment (significance defined as \geq 70% diameter stenosis) compared to culprit only intervention [46].

The COMPLETE trial (2019) assigned ~4000 patients with STEMI and multivessel coronary artery disease randomly to culprit-lesion only PCI or complete revascularization (within 45 days) mainly by angiographic assessment. Lesion significance was defined as \geq 70% diameter stenosis or FFR \leq 0.80 if the diameter stenosis was 40-69% (this was the case in less than 1% of the lesions in both study groups). There was a 26% risk reduction in cardiovascular mortality and myocardial infarction over approximately 3 years of follow-up. In two-thirds of the cases, completion of revascularization was performed during the initial hospitalization (median 1 day) whereas in one-third, within 45 days (median 23 days), a difference that did not affect the outcome [47].

It is worth mentioning that in acute cases angiographic assessment might overestimate the significance of a non-culprit lesion in a substantial number of cases (10-20%) when compared to follow-up angiography at a later stage. A potential explanation of an overestimated non-culprit stenosis severity during the acute phase is vasoconstriction, but also the presence of thrombus, the effect of statin therapy, relative vasodilation of normal segments, or a change in hemodynamics might have a role [48, 49].

1.6.2 Invasive functional testing in ACS

1.6.2.1 Hyperemic test/fractional flow reserve

Most of the information on the benefit of using functional indexes to guide revascularization derives from stable patients and data is limited regarding ACS cases. There is uncertainty because of possible interference caused by transient microvascular dysfunction. In general, it is not recommended to measure fractional flow reserve in culprit vessels, since we might underestimate the significance of the lesion due to a decreased response to adenosine caused by microvascular injury (inadequate vasodilation). This can be secondary to vasoconstriction caused by increased α -adrenergic stimulation and endothelin-1 effect; endothelial dysfunction caused by inflammation, elevated CRP; distal embolization; vessel compression by myocardial edema or hemorrhage and elevated left ventricular diastolic pressure (LVEDP). These changes lead to a higher FFR, lower CFR, and increased IMR in the culprit vessels [50].

Not only the infarct-related territories are involved during an acute coronary syndrome, but in animal experiments, non-ischemic territories showed evidence of focal infarction along with functional derangement [51].

Similar findings were observed in human studies showing dysfunctional microcirculation in the non-culprit vessels as well likely caused by an elevated LVEDP and increased vasoconstriction. This leads to impaired vasodilation (defined as the ratio of maximal to basal coronary blood flow) during the acute phase which could potentially interfere with hyperemic functional assessment [52].

In the majority of investigations however, these microvascular changes have not resulted in a major influence on FFR measurement in human studies or animal models.

In the FISIOIAM study, 93% of STEMI patients had microvascular and endothelial dysfunction in the non-culprit areas assessed by detailed physiologic assessment. The investigators found no significant effect or attenuated response to hyperemia on FFR measurements despite these microvascular changes [53].

In a porcine acute myocardial infarction model MI was provoked by selective balloon occlusion of the Lcx (left circumflex artery) for 30 minutes and a non-IRA lesion was created by bare-metal stent implantation in the LAD (left anterior descending coronary artery) 4 weeks prior to the experiment. Functional testing was performed at baseline, during balloon occlusion as well as after 15 minutes of reperfusion. The resting transstenotic gradient was significantly higher, and the resting microvascular resistance was significantly lower after reperfusion compared to baseline whereas these indexes (transstenotic gradient and microvascular resistance) during hyperemia have not changed significantly. Similarly, fractional flow reserve has not changed significantly after reperfusion while CFR and iFR were significantly lower compared to baseline [54].

In the WAVE study, FFR was measured at the index procedure in non-culprit vessels of STEMI patients and then 5-8 days later with the finding of stable values, however, this might be related to the fact that the changes in circulation and microvasculature described above have not resolved yet [55].

Despite the theoretical obstacles mentioned above, fractional flow reserve measurement in non-culprit vessels of ACS patients has not changed significantly in two other studies with a longer follow-up test if performed in 35 +/- 4 or 41.8 +/- 10.2 days [56, 57]. Microvascular dysfunction was assessed in a subgroup of one of these studies [56] with the measurement of IMR in non-culprit regions and it was found that it was normal in 79% of patients without a significant change during follow-up.

A good correlation of FFR measurement was also observed in NSTE-ACS patients compared to stress cardiac MRI if the latter was performed 6+/- 3 days after PCI [58]. In the REDUCE-MVI study, fractional flow reserve, instantaneous wave-free ratio, coronary flow reserve, and index of microcirculatory resistance were measured in 73 STEMI patients at the time of the acute event and at 1 month. Compared to the initial measurement, FFR and CFR showed significant changes at 1-month; fractional flow reserve decreased, and coronary flow reserve increased. In the acute phase, microcirculatory response to adenosine was decreased. These changes were seen more

likely in larger infarcts, low left ventricular ejection fraction, and microvascular injury [59].

The present approach is that fractional flow reserve can be reliably measured in nonculprit vessels during an acute coronary syndrome reflected in the ACS guidelines by the ESC keeping in mind that there is some chance of underestimating the significance of the non-culprit vessels in the acute phase, especially with large infarcts.

1.6.2.2. Non-hyperemic testing: iFR and Pd/Pa

Less is known about non-hyperemic testing of non-culprit vessels/lesions in acute coronary syndrome.

In the REDUCE-MVI study, iFR and Pd/Pa both increased but did not significantly change at 1-month. The lower initial non-hyperemic index was explained by a slightly increased rest flow during the acute event [59].

The iSTEMI study investigated iFR during the acute phase and follow-up (median 16 days) in 120 STEMI patients/157 non-culprit lesions after successful primary PCI. 89% of measurements were similar within 5 days whereas only 70% \geq 16 days (median increase of 0.03). After at least 16 days, iFR was higher which raises the possibility of overestimation of the functional significance of the non-culprit lesion during the acute phase by iFR. On the other hand, non-significant lesions can be predicted with good certainty (negative predictive value of 89%) [60].

The WAVE study (observational registry of 50 patients with 66 non-culprit lesions) showed that iFR measurements in non-culprit vessels of STEMI patients at the acute phase compared with the subacute phase (5-8 days) were stable [55].

The negative predictive value was 89% and 91%, the positive predictive value was 68% and 53% in iSTEMI and REDUCE-MVI, respectively using the follow-up iFR as reference. Of note, the patient characteristics (e.g., prevalence of significant non-culprit lesions 52% vs. 23%) and the timing of follow-up measurement (median 16 days in iSTEMI and 31 days in REDUCE-MVI) differed between these studies.

These investigations suggest that iFR (and likely Pd/Pa) can reliably rule out significant disease in the acute phase whereas there is a chance of overestimation of the significance of non-culprit lesions (both REDUCE-MVI and iSTEMI showed an increase in iFR in the subacute state).

1.6.3. Revascularization guided by functional testing in ACS patients

Since there has been abundant evidence of the benefit of revascularization guided by functional testing compared to angiographic assessment in chronic coronary syndrome, prospective studies were designed to assess the feasibility of FFR guidance in the revascularization of non-culprit vessels in acute cases. The Compare-Acute trial randomized 895 patients with STEMI and multi-vessel disease with a follow-up of 12 months to compare FFR-guided complete revascularization of acute patients to IRA-only treatment (in this group elective PCI within 45 days was not considered to be an endpoint). The primary endpoints were all-cause mortality, myocardial infarction, cerebrovascular event, or any revascularization. There was a significant difference in primary outcome: 7.8% in the FFR-guided (complete group) versus 20.5% in the IRA-only group (p<0.001). By FFR, around 50% of angiographically significant lesions were found to be non-significant [61].

In the Danami3-Primulti study (Complete Revascularisation versus Treatment of the Culprit Lesion Only in Patients with ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction and Multivessel Disease), 627 patients with STEMI and multi-vessel disease were followed up for 27 months the primary endpoint being MACE (all-cause mortality, myocardial infarction, ischemia-driven revascularization of non-IRA lesions). The FFR-guided interventions of non-culprit vessels were performed at a median of 2 days after the index procedure. FFR-guided complete revascularization was better than IRA-only treatment with a MACE of 13% vs. 22%, respectively (p=0.004). There was also a significant proportion of lesions found to be non-significant by functional testing compared to angiographic assessment (around 30%) [62].

In both trials, the benefit was mainly driven by a lower number of urgent revascularizations. There was no benefit in terms of mortality or myocardial infarction alone in either of these studies.

In large meta-analyses of several studies, complete revascularization compared to culprit-only was better in terms of all aspects of MACE (including CV death and recurrent MI) regardless of angiography or FFR guidance with no major difference between the two approaches [63, 64].

The Flower-MI study compared FFR-guided total revascularization with angiographyguided total revascularization with respect to MACE at 1 year (mortality, myocardial infarction, or urgent revascularization) in 1171 patients. There was no benefit of FFRguidance, however, due to wide confidence intervals, it was not possible to have firm conclusions drawn. There was a much lower event rate in the trial population compared to what was expected and the cause of death was different in the two groups. There was a higher rate of non-cardiac death in the FFR-guided group compared to the angiography-guided patients (approximately 80% versus 30%). Since patients were included with severe non-culprit disease, the number of patients with intermediate stenosis range (<70%) was low (less than 50%) and therefore the benefit of FFRguidance relied on a relatively small number of patients (198 of 586). FFR-guidance resulted in less interventions (like other studies) still resulting in similar outcomes [65, 66].

On the other hand, FRAME-AMI, a recently presented study at the ESC Congress 2022 investigating approximately 600 patients with myocardial infarction (STEMI or NSTEMI) found that FFR-guided revascularization of non-culprit vessels compared to angiographic guidance (during index hospitalization with 60% immediate and 40% staged) with a median follow-up of 3.5 years resulted in a significantly decreased rate of myocardial infarction or death, whereas unplanned revascularization was not significantly different. The primary endpoint (a composite of death, myocardial infarction, or revascularization) occurred in 7.4% (FFR-guided group) versus 19.7% (angiography-guided group) of patients (p=0.003) [67].

This concept has not been proved in a recent large-meta-analysis of around 9000 patients with STEMI and multivessel disease. Angiography-guided complete revascularization was better compared to culprit-only treatment in terms of

23

cardiovascular death, all-cause death and myocardial infarction, whereas FFR-guided approach was not [68].

In a pooled analysis of 5 large studies (approximately 9000 patients), deferral of revascularization of non-culprit vessels based upon FFR resulted in a higher risk of major adverse cardiovascular events at 1 year in ACS patients compared to stable coronary artery disease (SCD) mainly related to unplanned revascularization. The prognosis was similar, however in treated patients guided by FFR [69]. Similar results were found in a meta-analysis showing a higher MACE risk in ACS patients with FFR-guided revascularization of non-culprit vessels compared to stable angina [70]. It is not known whether this increased risk is due to possible underestimation of risk by physiologic indexes in ACS cases or the inherently higher risk of future events in ACS patients due to the more widespread disease of the coronary vessels along with more vulnerable plaques compared to chronic coronary syndromes or a combination of both.

2. OBJECTIVES

There is evidence mostly from stable patients that FFR guidance improves clinical outcomes compared to angiography-guided revascularization. In ACS patients there is also evidence that FFR (hyperemic) guidance of revascularization in non-culprit vessels can improve clinical outcomes mainly driven by a decreased need for urgent revascularization later. On the other hand, there is limited and equivocal data regarding the use of resting indexes in non-culprit vessels of ACS cases to predict outcomes. Therefore, we compared FFR and resting Pd/Pa in the non-culprit vessels of patients in the Compare-Acute trial and their respective power to predict 3-year MACE [71].

3. METHODS

3.1. Patients

The Compare-Acute trial enrolled STEMI patients with multivessel disease within 12 hours of symptom onset. Two groups were randomized in a 1:2 fashion to infarct-related artery only (IRA-only) and FFR-guided complete revascularization, immediately after the successful and uncomplicated primary percutaneous intervention of the infarct-related artery. Resting Pd/Pa and FFR of all non-culprit vessels (with at least 50% diameter stenosis) were measured in all patients. In the complete revascularization group, nonculprit revascularization was decided by FFR (cut-off ≤ 0.80), whereas in the other arm, resting Pd/Pa and FFR values were measured but concealed and all non-culprit lesions were left without intervention. FFR and resting Pd/Pa were measured using commercially available pressure wires (St. Jude Medical, now Abbott). Intravenous infusion or intracoronary boluses of adenosine at standard doses were used to achieve hyperemia. A total of 885 patients were randomized in the study, 295 to the FFR-guided complete revascularization arm and 590 to the IRA-only group. To assess the relative prognostic power of FFR and resting Pd/Pa to predict 3-year MACE, we included only patients from the IRA-only group (n=517) who had both FFR and resting Pd/Pa measured in the nonculprit vessels (target vessels in this evaluation) [71].

3.2. Endpoints

Target vessel-related MACE included target vessel myocardial infarction (TVMI) and target vessel revascularization (TVR) at 36 months in this analysis. Cardiovascular death was not included as an endpoint, because it is hard to relate it to a specific vessel. We compared the respective power of FFR and resting Pd/Pa in predicting target vessel-related MACE with special attention to cases with discrepant FFR and Pd/Pa values. The Clinical Event Committee reviewed all reported non-fatal myocardial infarction (MI) events. These were assigned to a target or a non-target vessel. In case

the event (non-fatal MI or non-target vessel revascularization) was related to a non-target vessel, it was not counted as an event [71].

3.3. Statistical analysis

Categorical variables were presented as counts and percentages. Continuous patientand vessel-level variables were presented as mean (±SD) or median (interquartile range) depending on their distribution. The correlation of FFR and resting Pd/Pa on a target-vessel-level was assessed by Pearson coefficient of determination (R2). Receiveroperating characteristic (ROC) analysis was performed to examine the concordance of Pd/Pa and FFR≤0.80. Concordance was assessed using Harrell C in a univariate frailty model, taking also the hierarchical nature of the data into account. Optimal cutoff for Pd/Pa was determined using Youden's index. Diagnostic inter-testagreement between FFR < 0.80 and Pd/Pa < 0.91 was tested by Cohen's kappa statistic. Agreement between the methods was assessed by Bland-Altman plots with corresponding 95% limits of agreement. Discrepant pairs and their relation to TV-related MACE at 36 months were assessed using the χ^2 test. A frailty model (cox regression mixed model) with a gamma distribution was used to construct a prediction-model for the endpoint TVR and/or TVMI on a vessel-level. This analysis takes both time and the multilevel structure of the data (the clustering of vessels in one patient) into account. For each of the independent variables, hazard ratio (HR) and its 95% CI are presented. For predictor selection in the final model, we used backward selection. To check if the assumption of a constant hazard over time was met for the included variables, the backward selection plots produced in R were eyeballed. R version 3.6.2 and SPSS version 27 were used for the analysis [71].

4. RESULTS

4.1. Patients, vessels, and physiology parameters

517 patients and 665 target vessels were included [**Figure 1**]. 282 (42.4%) were left anterior descending (LAD), 221 (33.2%) were left circumflex (Lcx) and 162 (24.4%) were right coronary artery (RCA). The majority, 371 patients had one, 144 had two, and 2 had three target vessels. The distribution of FFR and resting Pd/Pa values are shown in **Figure 2**. Median FFR was 0.83 (interquartile range, 0.14), and median resting Pd/Pa was 0.92 (interquartile range, 0.10) [71].



Figure 1. Patient flow chart. FFR indicates fractional flow reserve; IRA, infarct-related artery; and Pd/Pa, resting full cycle distal coronary to aortic pressure ratio. (Adapted from Piróth Z, Fülöp G et al. Correlation and Relative Prognostic Value of Fractional

Flow Reserve and Pd/Pa of Nonculprit Lesions in ST-Segment-Elevation Myocardial Infarction. Circ Cardiovasc Interv, 2022; 15(2): e010796, p. 3) [71].



Figure 2. Distribution of fractional flow reserve (FFR) and resting full cycle distal coronary to aortic pressure ratio (Pd/Pa) values. IQR indicates interquartile range. (Adapted from Piróth Z, Fülöp G et al. Correlation and Relative Prognostic Value of Fractional Flow Reserve and Pd/Pa of Nonculprit Lesions in ST-Segment-Elevation Myocardial Infarction. Circ Cardiovasc Interv, 2022; 15(2): e010796, p. 5) [71].

4.2 Correlation of FFR and resting Pd/Pa

The scatter plot of FFR and resting Pd/Pa are shown in **Figure 3**. There was a linear correlation between FFR and resting Pd/Pa with a Pearson R^2 of 0.84 (p<0.01). The area under the ROC curve (C statistic) to predict an FFR \leq 0.80 was 0.894 for resting Pd/Pa indicating a good correlation [**Figure 4**].

Based on ROC curve analysis, the optimal cut-off value of resting Pd/Pa to predict an FFR \leq 0.80 was 0.905 (Youden index 0.620). 301 vessels (45%) had an FFR >0.80 and a resting Pd/Pa >0.91 [true negatives, **Figure 3**, quadrant B], 232 (35%) had an FFR \leq 0.80 and a resting Pd/Pa \leq 0.91 [true positives, **Figure 3**, quadrant C]). 85 (13%)

had an FFR >0.80 and a resting Pd/Pa \leq 0.91 [false positives, **Figure 3**, quadrant D] and 47 (7%) had an FFR \leq 0.80 and a resting Pd/Pa>0.91 [false negatives, **Figure 3**, quadrant A]. Altogether 132 vessels (20%) had discrepant FFR and resting Pd/Pa values. The overall sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative predictive value of Pd/Pa \leq 0.91 versus FFR \leq 0.80 were 83.15%, 77.98%, 73.19%, and 86.49%, respectively, and the overall diagnostic accuracy was 80.15%.

To achieve a diagnostic accuracy of 90%, 95%, and 99%, adenosine was needed in 24.1%, 31.4%, and 74.9% of the lesions, respectively [Figure 5].

Of the 132 vessels with discrepant FFR and resting Pd/Pa, 57 (43%) were left anterior descending, 34 (26%) were left circumflex and 41 (31%) were right coronary arteries. Resting and hyperemic measurements of coronary physiology of the target vessels were discrepant in 20% in the left anterior descending (57/282), 15% in the left circumflex (34/221), and 25% in the right coronary artery (41/162). The level of diagnostic agreement between FFR \leq 0.80 and resting Pd/Pa \leq 0.91 had a kappa of 0.60 (SE 0.031, p<0.001), indicating a moderate level of agreement [71].



Figure 3. Scatter plot of fractional flow reserve (FFR) and resting full cycle distal coronary to aortic pressure ratio (Pd/Pa). (Adapted from Piróth Z, Fülöp G et al. Correlation and Relative Prognostic Value of Fractional Flow Reserve and Pd/Pa of

Nonculprit Lesions in ST-Segment-Elevation Myocardial Infarction. Circ Cardiovasc Interv, 2022; 15(2): e010796, p. 5) [71].



Figure 4. Receiver-operating characteristic (ROC) curve for resting full cycle distal coronary to aortic pressure ratio (Pd/Pa). FFR indicates fractional flow reserve. (Adapted from Piróth Z, Fülöp G et al. Correlation and Relative Prognostic Value of Fractional Flow Reserve and Pd/Pa of Nonculprit Lesions in ST-Segment-Elevation Myocardial Infarction. Circ Cardiovasc Interv, 2022; 15(2): e010796, p. 6) [71].

4.3 Endpoints, the predictive power of FFR versus resting Pd/Pa

130 target vessel revascularizations (57 LAD, 43 Lcx, and 30 RCA) and 14 target vessel-related myocardial infarctions (4 LAD, 7 Lcx, and 3 RCA) occurred in 36 months. 132 vessels were related to an endpoint (TVR and/or TVMI). 82 of the 279

(29.4%) target vessels with an FFR \leq 0.80 had an endpoint compared with 50 of 386 (13.0%) with an FFR >0.80. FFR had a sensitivity, specificity, and overall diagnostic accuracy of 62%, 63%, and 63%, respectively. 81 of the 317 (25.6%) target vessels with a resting Pd/Pa \leq 0.91 had an endpoint compared with 51 of 348 (14.7%) with a resting Pd/Pa of >0.91. Resting Pd/Pa had a sensitivity, specificity, and overall diagnostic accuracy of 61%, 56%, and 57%, respectively.



Figure 5. Association between the freedom from adenosine and the diagnostic accuracy of resting full cycle distal coronary to aortic pressure ratio. The 95% confidence interval is indicated by dashed lines. (Adapted from Piróth Z, Fülöp G et al. Correlation and Relative Prognostic Value of Fractional Flow Reserve and Pd/Pa of Nonculprit Lesions in ST-Segment-Elevation Myocardial Infarction. Circ Cardiovasc Interv, 2022; 15(2): e010796, Supplemental Material) [71].

The ROC curves of FFR and resting Pd/Pa in predicting 36-month TVMI and/or TVR are shown in **Figure 6**. The AUC for FFR and resting Pd/Pa were 0.630 (95% CI, 0.578–0.682) and 0.608 (95% CI, 0.556–0.661), respectively (p=0.20). Based on ROC analysis, the best cut-off values of FFR and resting Pd/Pa to predict 36-month TVMI and/or TVR were 0.815 and 0.935, respectively [71].



Figure 6. Receiver-operating characteristic curves of fractional flow reserve (FFR) and resting full cycle distal coronary to aortic pressure ratio (Pd/Pa) in predicting 36-month target vessel myocardial infarction and/or target vessel revascularization. (Adapted from Piróth Z, Fülöp G et al. Correlation and Relative Prognostic Value of Fractional Flow Reserve and Pd/Pa of Nonculprit Lesions in ST-Segment-Elevation Myocardial Infarction. Circ Cardiovasc Interv, 2022; 15(2): e010796, p. 8) [71].

4.4 Outcome of vessels with discrepant FFR and resting Pd/Pa values

The outcome was analyzed in vessels with discrepant Pd/Pa and FFR (i.e., FFR ≤ 0.80 and Pd/Pa>0.91 or FFR>0.80 and Pd/Pd ≤ 0.91) [quadrants A and D in Figure 3]. In these cases, revascularization decisions of non-culprit vessels would have been different. There was a discrepancy in the resting (Pd/Pa) and hyperemic (FFR) measurements in 132 of the 665 vessels (20%). In 105, no TVMI or TVR occurred, of these, 72 had negative FFR and positive Pd/Pa, and 33 had positive FFR and negative Pd/Pa [**Figure 7a**]. In 27, TVMI and/or TVR occurred, of these 13 had negative FFR and positive FFR and negative FFR and positive Pd/Pa [**Figure 7b**]). FFR was better than resting Pd/Pa (P=0.048) to identify which nIRA could be safely deferred. The event-free survival curves of the 4 concordant and discordant groups are shown in **Figure 8** [71].



Figure 7a. Non-culprit vessels with discrepant functional indexes and no target vessel myocardial infarction (TVMI) and/or target vessel revascularization (TVR).



Figure 7b. Non-culprit vessels with discrepant functional indexes with target vessel myocardial infarction (TVMI) and/or target vessel revascularization (TVR).



Figure 8. Event-free survival curves of the 4 groups according to the concordance of fractional flow reserve (FFR) and resting full cycle distal coronary to aortic pressure ratio (Pd/Pa). (Adapted from Piróth Z, Fülöp G et al. Correlation and Relative Prognostic Value of Fractional Flow Reserve and Pd/Pa of Nonculprit Lesions in ST-
Segment-Elevation Myocardial Infarction. Circ Cardiovasc Interv, 2022; 15(2): e010796, p. 8) [71].

5. DISCUSSION

The European guidelines recommend complete revascularization in hemodynamically stable ACS cases with the potential use of FFR. At present, there is some uncertainty and a non-uniform approach in everyday practice on when and how to choose lesions to intervene upon despite the recommendation.

If we consider the studies based upon angiographic assessment only, non-culprit lesions should be intervened if the stenosis diameter is \geq 70% (data with one smaller trial showing benefit \geq 50%) [45]. There is a possibility of overestimating lesion severity in the acute or early subacute setting.

Functional assessment of non-culprit lesions by FFR compared to angiographic assessment (\geq 50% stenosis) showed a benefit mostly related to a lower rate of urgent revascularization in randomized studies [61, 62]. The FRAME-AMI study showed a benefit in hard endpoints (death or myocardial infarction) with FFR-guided complete revascularization. In studies applying FFR-guidance for non-culprit revascularization, 30-50% of angiographically significant (DS >50%) lesions proved to be FFR-negative. Similarly, a high rate of functionally non-significant lesions was found in another ongoing study of FFR-guided revascularization versus initial conservative treatment in ACS patients (STEMI and high-risk NSTEMI) with approximately 20% rate of non-significant lesions by FFR in the angiographic range 90-99% and 50% in the 70-89% range [72]. In the first two studies using a hyperemic index to define significant non-culprit lesions, FFR-guidance resulted in no worsening in major outcomes compared to angiographic assessment only despite a lower number of interventions, and no late catch-up was noticed.

It stands to reason that risk is not only related to a specific ischemic threshold but rather it is related inversely to the absolute value of a functional index [73], whereas local plaque vulnerability also plays a role in future MACE. The latter can be assessed by intracoronary imaging (IVUS, OCT). Risk factors can be identified which can increase vulnerability (thin cap fibroatheroma, high atherosclerotic load, presence of macrophages, and small luminal area) [74, 75]. Trials have been performed and are also underway incorporating that into the decision-making process. The intervention of angiographically mild lesions in MI patients showing the above high-risk characteristics was associated with better vessel-related outcomes [76].

The investigations assessing the repeatability of hyperaemic and non-hyperemic indexes in the acute and subacute settings show an opposite direction. FFR might under-, resting indexes might overestimate lesion severity in the non-culprit vessels in the acute setting.

At present there is a question regarding the timing of non-culprit revascularization although the guidelines recommend in-hospital complete revascularization in these patients. No harm was seen in the COMPLETE trial if non-culprit lesions were intervened upon at a later stage (mean delay of 23 days) [77]. Similar finding of no major difference between acute and staged non-culprit PCI was noted in meta-analyses. Combined and individual endpoints of cardiovascular death and/or new myocardial infarction were not significantly different [64] and 30-day and 1-year mortality were similar [78]. There are ongoing trials investigating this, BIOVASC (NCT03621501), iMODERN (NCT03298659), and MULTISTARS AMI (NCT03135275) [79, 80].

In our analysis, the correlation and respective power to predict vessel-related outcomes of FFR and resting Pd/Pa were evaluated in non-culprit arteries of patients with STEMI and primary PCI. There was a linear and good correlation between FFR and resting Pd/Pa (R^2 , 0.84). The optimal cut-off of resting Pd/Pa to predict an FFR \leq 0.80 was 0.905. The diagnostic accuracy of Pd/Pa \leq 0.91 was approximately 80%, similar to the results of other studies in patients with stable angina [18, 19]. The level of diagnostic agreement between FFR \leq 0.80 and resting Pa/Pd \leq 0.91 was moderate. The two indexes (FFR and Pd/Pa) predicted future target-vessel-related events (TVMI and TVR) with similar diagnostic accuracy at 36 months (63% vs. 57%, p=0.20). In case the two functional (hyperemic and resting) values were discrepant, FFR was significantly better in defining which vessel could be deferred. Our results are in line with another analysis in which resting Pd/Pa was shown to be less important prognostically compared with FFR in patients primarily with stable angina [81]. Similar finding was recorded in post-PCI patients when Pd/Pa and FFR were measured. About 50% of patients had discrepant values, but low Pd/Pa and high FFR patients had similar outcomes compared to concordant negative cases (high iFR and high FFR) [82].

The dilemma is whether or not we could replace hyperemic testing with easier-to-obtain resting indexes to assess the functional severity of non-culprit lesions and to decide whether or not revascularization is necessary. This could potentially lead to shorter procedure time as well as lower costs and avoidance of potential side effects of adenosine.

The reason why resting indexes might not be a good option according to our data is the following. The diagnostic accuracy of Pd/Pa compared with FFR in this analysis was 80%. This is similar to the findings of resting index evaluation compared to hyperemic testing in stable patients. Although in general, the two indexes were similar in predicting adverse outcomes, FFR was better to defer revascularization of non-culprits than resting Pd/Pa (in cases with discrepant FFR and resting Pd/Pa). Since adenosine is a medication that can be used to treat no-reflow in ACS cases, it is not contraindicated in this setting and therefore could help us to better evaluate risk.

There are limitations of this analysis which are in general related to the fact that some patients were excluded from the main trial e.g., patients with failed primary PCI, left main disease, or significant valve disease. Relating non-fatal MI events to a specific vessel by the blinded clinical events committee was not possible in all cases and some of the patients had >1 target vessel included. Other resting indexes were not measured, although in general, they are equal in diagnostic performance. The indexes were measured on-site (no core laboratory analysis was used).

6. CONCLUSIONS

In STEMI patients and multivessel disease, the functional assessment of non-culprit vessels immediately after successful primary PCI showed that resting Pd/Pa had an 80% diagnostic accuracy compared with FFR. In this analysis, the best cut-off value of resting Pd/Pa to predict an FFR \leq 0.80 was 0.905. FFR was not significantly better than resting Pd/Pa to predict major adverse cardiovascular events, but in case the two indexes were discrepant, FFR was superior in identifying which non-culprit lesions could be safely deferred.

7. SUMMARY

Functional assessment of coronary lesions has been extensively investigated and proved to be beneficial in chronic coronary syndrome. There is a recommendation from the guidelines to perform complete revascularization in ACS cases during the index hospitalization. Still, it is not completely clarified how to define significance of nonculprit lesions and how to safely defer intervention.

In our study we investigated the correlation and prognostic power of resting Pd/Pa and FFR to predict outcomes in 3 years in non-culprit vessels of STEMI patients of the COMPARE-Acute trial who had successful primary PCI.

We found that the resting Pd/Pa had approximately 80% diagnostic accuracy when compared to fractional flow reserve. In case the two indexes were discrepant (approximately 20% of the cases), FFR had better ability to indicate which lesions could be deferred safely.

Our analysis indicates that deferral of an intervention of non-culprit vessels in the acute phase seems to be better aided by FFR compared to resting indexes. Further studies are needed to clarify the optimal approach for these patients.

8. REFERENCES

- Németh N, Endrei D, Elmer D, Csákvári T, Horváth L, Kajos LF, Cziráki A, Boncz I. A heveny szívinfarktus okozta országos epidemiológiai és egészségbiztosítási betegségteher Magyarországon. [Epidemiological disease burden and annual health insurance treatment cost of acute myocardial infarction in Hungary.] Orv Hetil, 2021; 162(162 Suppl 1): 6-13.
- Fülöp G, Csanádi B, Fülöp D, Piróth Zs. Többszörös coronaria léziók és diffúz coronaria betegség funkcionális értékelése. [Functional assessment of serial coronary lesions and diffuse coronary disease.] Orv Hetil, 2022; 163(48): 1902-1908.
- Pijls NH, van Son JA, Kirkeeide RL, De Bruyne B, Gould KL. Experimental basis of determining maximum coronary, myocardial, and collateral blood flow by pressure measurements for assessing functional stenosis severity before and after percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty. Circulation, 1993; 87(4): 1354-1367.
- 4. Zimmermann FM, Ferrara A, Johnson NP, van Nunen LX, Escaned J, Albertsson P, Erbel R, Legrand V, Gwon HC, Remkes WS, Stella PR, van Schaardenburgh P, Bech GJ, De Bruyne B, Pijls NH. Deferral vs. performance of percutaneous coronary intervention of functionally non-significant coronary stenosis: 15-year follow-up of the DEFER trial. Eur Heart J, 2015; 36(45): 3182-3188.
- 5. Tonino PA, De Bruyne B, Pijls NH, Siebert U, Ikeno F, van' t Veer M, Klauss V, Manoharan G, Engstrøm T, Oldroyd KG, Ver Lee PN, MacCarthy PA, Fearon WF; FAME Study Investigators. Fractional flow reserve versus angiography for guiding percutaneous coronary intervention. N Engl J Med, 2009; 360(3): 213-224.
- 6. De Bruyne B, Pijls NH, Kalesan B, Barbato E, Tonino PA, Piroth Z, Jagic N, Möbius-Winkler S, Rioufol G, Witt N, Kala P, MacCarthy P, Engström T, Oldroyd KG, Mavromatis K, Manoharan G, Verlee P, Frobert O, Curzen N, Johnson JB, Jüni P, Fearon WF; FAME 2 Trial Investigators. Fractional flow reserve-guided PCI versus medical therapy in stable coronary disease. N Engl J Med, 2012; 367(11): 991-1001.

- Achenbach S, Rudolph T, Rieber J, Eggebrecht H, Richardt G, Schmitz T, Werner N, Boenner F, Möllmann H. Performing and Interpreting Fractional Flow Reserve Measurements in Clinical Practice: An Expert Consensus Document. Interv Cardiol, 2017; 12(2): 97-109.
- 8. Johnson NP, Tóth GG, Lai D, Zhu H, Açar G, Agostoni P, Appelman Y, Arslan F, Barbato E, Chen SL, Di Serafino L, Domínguez-Franco AJ, Dupouy P, Esen AM, Esen OB, Hamilos M, Iwasaki K, Jensen LO, Jiménez-Navarro MF, Katritsis DG, Kocaman SA, Koo BK, López-Palop R, Lorin JD, Miller LH, Muller O, Nam CW, Oud N, Puymirat E, Rieber J, Rioufol G, Rodés-Cabau J, Sedlis SP, Takeishi Y, Tonino PA, Van Belle E, Verna E, Werner GS, Fearon WF, Pijls NH, De Bruyne B, Gould KL. Prognostic value of fractional flow reserve: linking physiologic severity to clinical outcomes. J Am Coll Cardiol, 2014; 64(16): 1641-1654.
- Zhang D, Lv S, Song X, Yuan F, Xu F, Zhang M, Yan S, Cao X. Fractional flow reserve versus angiography for guiding percutaneous coronary intervention: a metaanalysis. Heart, 2015; 101(6): 455-462.
- 10. Fournier S, Ciccarelli G, Toth GG, Milkas A, Xaplanteris P, Tonino PAL, Fearon WF, Pijls NHJ, Barbato E, De Bruyne B. Association of Improvement in Fractional Flow Reserve With Outcomes, Including Symptomatic Relief, After Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. JAMA Cardiol, 2019; 4(4): 370-374.
- 11. Piroth Z, Toth GG, Tonino PAL, Barbato E, Aghlmandi S, Curzen N, Rioufol G, Pijls NHJ, Fearon WF, Jüni P, De Bruyne B. Prognostic Value of Fractional Flow Reserve Measured Immediately After Drug-Eluting Stent Implantation. Circ Cardiovasc Interv, 2017; 10(8): e005233.
- 12. Neumann FJ, Sousa-Uva M, Ahlsson A, Alfonso F, Banning AP, Benedetto U, Byrne RA, Collet JP, Falk V, Head SJ, Jüni P, Kastrati A, Koller A, Kristensen SD, Niebauer J, Richter DJ, Seferovic PM, Sibbing D, Stefanini GG, Windecker S, Yadav R, Zembala MO; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2018 ESC/EACTS Guidelines on myocardial revascularization. Eur Heart J, 2019; 40(2): 87-165.
- Toth GG, Toth B, Johnson NP, De Vroey F, Di Serafino L, Pyxaras S, Rusinaru D, Di Gioia G, Pellicano M, Barbato E, Van Mieghem C, Heyndrickx GR, De Bruyne B, Wijns W. Revascularization decisions in patients with stable angina and

intermediate lesions: results of the international survey on interventional strategy. Circ Cardiovasc Interv, 2014; 7(6): 751-759.

- 14. Jeremias A, Maehara A, Généreux P, Asrress KN, Berry C, De Bruyne B, Davies JE, Escaned J, Fearon WF, Gould KL, Johnson NP, Kirtane AJ, Koo BK, Marques KM, Nijjer S, Oldroyd KG, Petraco R, Piek JJ, Pijls NH, Redwood S, Siebes M, Spaan JAE, van 't Veer M, Mintz GS, Stone GW. Multicenter core laboratory comparison of the instantaneous wave-free ratio and resting Pd/Pa with fractional flow reserve: the RESOLVE study. J Am Coll Cardiol, 2014; 8;63(13): 1253-1261.
- 15. Sen S, Escaned J, Malik IS, Mikhail GW, Foale RA, Mila R, Tarkin J, Petraco R, Broyd C, Jabbour R, Sethi A, Baker CS, Bellamy M, Al-Bustami M, Hackett D, Khan M, Lefroy D, Parker KH, Hughes AD, Francis DP, Di Mario C, Mayet J, Davies JE. Development and validation of a new adenosine-independent index of stenosis severity from coronary wave-intensity analysis: results of the ADVISE (ADenosine Vasodilator Independent Stenosis Evaluation) study. J Am Coll Cardiol, 2012; 59(15): 1392-1402.
- 16. Davies JE, Whinnett ZI, Francis DP, Manisty CH, Aguado-Sierra J, Willson K, Foale RA, Malik IS, Hughes AD, Parker KH, Mayet J. Evidence of a dominant backward-propagating "suction" wave responsible for diastolic coronary filling in humans, attenuated in left ventricular hypertrophy. Circulation, 2006; 113(14): 1768-1778.
- 17. Escaned J, Echavarría-Pinto M, Garcia-Garcia HM, van de Hoef TP, de Vries T, Kaul P, Raveendran G, Altman JD, Kurz HI, Brechtken J, Tulli M, Von Birgelen C, Schneider JE, Khashaba AA, Jeremias A, Baucum J, Moreno R, Meuwissen M, Mishkel G, van Geuns RJ, Levite H, Lopez-Palop R, Mayhew M, Serruys PW, Samady H, Piek JJ, Lerman A; ADVISE II Study Group. Prospective Assessment of the Diagnostic Accuracy of Instantaneous Wave-Free Ratio to Assess Coronary Stenosis Relevance: Results of ADVISE II International, Multicenter Study (ADenosine Vasodilator Independent Stenosis Evaluation II). JACC Cardiovasc Interv, 2015; 8(6): 824-833.
- 18. Maini R, Moscona J, Katigbak P, Fernandez C, Sidhu G, Saleh Q, Irimpen A, Samson R, LeJemtel T. Instantaneous wave-free ratio as an alternative to fractional

flow reserve in assessment of moderate coronary stenoses: A meta-analysis of diagnostic accuracy studies. Cardiovasc Revasc Med, 2018; 19(5 Pt B): 613-620.

- De Rosa S, Polimeni A, Petraco R, Davies JE, Indolfi C. Diagnostic Performance of the Instantaneous Wave-Free Ratio: Comparison With Fractional Flow Reserve. Circ Cardiovasc Interv, 2018; 11(1): e004613.
- 20. Götberg M, Christiansen EH, Gudmundsdottir IJ, Sandhall L, Danielewicz M, Jakobsen L, Olsson SE, Öhagen P, Olsson H, Omerovic E, Calais F, Lindroos P, Maeng M, Tödt T, Venetsanos D, James SK, Kåregren A, Nilsson M, Carlsson J, Hauer D, Jensen J, Karlsson AC, Panayi G, Erlinge D, Fröbert O; iFR-SWEDEHEART Investigators. Instantaneous wave-free ratio versus fractional flow reserve to guide PCI. N Engl J Med, 2017; 376: 1813-1823.
- 21. Davies JE, Sen S, Dehbi HM, Al-Lamee R, Petraco R, Nijjer SS, Bhindi R, Lehman SJ, Walters D, Sapontis J, Janssens L, Vrints CJ, Khashaba A, Laine M, Van Belle E, Krackhardt F, Bojara W, Going O, Härle T, Indolfi C, Niccoli G, Ribichini F, Tanaka N, Yokoi H, Takashima H, Kikuta Y, Erglis A, Vinhas H, Canas Silva P, Baptista SB, Alghamdi A, Hellig F, Koo BK, Nam CW, Shin ES, Doh JH, Brugaletta S, Alegria-Barrero E, Meuwissen M, Piek JJ, van Royen N, Sezer M, Di Mario C, Gerber RT, Malik IS, Sharp ASP, Talwar S, Tang K, Samady H, Altman J, Seto AH, Singh J, Jeremias A, Matsuo H, Kharbanda RK, Patel MR, Serruys P, Escaned J. Use of the instantaneous wave-free ratio or fractional flow reserve in PCI. N Engl J Med, 2017; 376: 182-1834.
- 22. Knuuti J, Wijns W, Saraste A, Capodanno D, Barbato E, Funck-Brentano C, Prescott E, Storey RF, Deaton C, Cuisset T, Agewall S, Dickstein K, Edvardsen T, Escaned J, Gersh BJ, Svitil P, Gilard M, Hasdai D, Hatala R, Mahfoud F, Masip J, Muneretto C, Valgimigli M, Achenbach S, Bax JJ; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2019 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of chronic coronary syndromes. Eur Heart J, 2020; 14;41(3): 407-477.
- 23. Svanerud J, Ahn JM, Jeremias A, van 't Veer M, Gore A, Maehara A, Crowley A, Pijls NHJ, De Bruyne B, Johnson NP, Hennigan B, Watkins S, Berry C, Oldroyd KG, Park SJ, Ali ZA. Validation of a novel non-hyperaemic index of coronary artery stenosis severity: the Resting Full-cycle Ratio (VALIDATE RFR) study. EuroIntervention, 2018; 14(7): 806-814.

- 24. Gore A, Ahn J, van 't Veer M, Jeremias A, Watkins S, Berry C, Oldroyd K, Hennigan B, Crowley A, Maehara A, Mintz G, Johnson N, Park S, Svanerud J and Ali Z. TCT-154 Diagnostic Accuracy of iFR Versus FFR in the Left Versus Right Coronary Artery. J Am Coll Cardiol, 2018; 72 (13_Supplement) B66.
- 25. Van't Veer M, Pijls NHJ, Hennigan B, Watkins S, Ali ZA, De Bruyne B, Zimmermann FM, van Nunen LX, Barbato E, Berry C, Oldroyd KG. Comparison of Different Diastolic Resting Indexes to iFR: Are They All Equal? J Am Coll Cardiol, 2017; 70(25): 3088-3096.
- 26. Berry C, van 't Veer M, Witt N, Kala P, Bocek O, Pyxaras SA, McClure JD, Fearon WF, Barbato E, Tonino PA, De Bruyne B, Pijls NH, Oldroyd KG. VERIFY (VERification of Instantaneous Wave-Free Ratio and Fractional Flow Reserve for the Assessment of Coronary Artery Stenosis Severity in EverydaY Practice): a multicenter study in consecutive patients. J Am Coll Cardiol, 2013; 61(13): 1421-1427.
- 27. Kobayashi Y, Johnson NP, Berry C, De Bruyne B, Gould KL, Jeremias A, Oldroyd KG, Pijls NHJ, Fearon WF; CONTRAST Study Investigators. The Influence of Lesion Location on the Diagnostic Accuracy of Adenosine-Free Coronary Pressure Wire Measurements. JACC Cardiovasc Interv, 2016; 12;9(23): 2390-2399.
- 28. Sen S, Ahmad Y, Dehbi HM, Howard JP, Iglesias JF, Al-Lamee R, Petraco R, Nijjer S, Bhindi R, Lehman S, Walters D, Sapontis J, Janssens L, Vrints CJ, Khashaba A, Laine M, Van Belle E, Krackhardt F, Bojara W, Going O, Härle T, Indolfi C, Niccoli G, Ribichini F, Tanaka N, Yokoi H, Takashima H, Kikuta Y, Erglis A, Vinhas H, Silva PC, Baptista SB, Alghamdi A, Hellig F, Koo BK, Nam CW, Shin ES, Doh JH, Brugaletta S, Alegria-Barrero E, Meuwissen M, Piek JJ, van Royen N, Sezer M, Di Mario C, Gerber RT, Malik IS, Sharp ASP, Talwar S, Tang K, Samady H, Altman J, Seto AH, Singh J, Jeremias A, Matsuo H, Kharbanda RK, Patel MR, Serruys P, Escaned J, Davies JE. Clinical Events After Deferral of LAD Revascularization Following Physiological Coronary Assessment. J Am Coll Cardiol, 2019; 73(4): 444-453.
- 29. Cook CM, Jeremias A, Petraco R, Sen S, Nijjer S, Shun-Shin MJ, Ahmad Y, de Waard G, van de Hoef T, Echavarria-Pinto M, van Lavieren M, Al Lamee R, Kikuta Y, Shiono Y, Buch A, Meuwissen M, Danad I, Knaapen P, Maehara A, Koo BK,

Mintz GS, Escaned J, Stone GW, Francis DP, Mayet J, Piek JJ, van Royen N, Davies JE. Fractional Flow Reserve/Instantaneous Wave-Free Ratio Discordance in Angiographically Intermediate Coronary Stenoses: An Analysis Using Doppler-Derived Coronary Flow Measurements. JACC Cardiovasc Interv, 2017; 10(24): 2514-2524.

- 30. Tahir H, Livesay J, Fogelson B, Baljepally R. Effect of Elevated Left Ventricular End Diastolic Pressure on Instantaneous Wave-Free Ratio and Fractional Flow Reserve Discordance. Cardiol Res, 2021; 12(2): 117-125.
- 31. Tahir H, Livesay J, Fogelson B, Baljepally R. Association of Echocardiographic Diastolic Dysfunction with Discordance of Invasive Intracoronary Pressure Indices. J Clin Med, 2021; 10(16): 3670.
- 32. Lee JM, Shin ES, Nam CW, Doh JH, Hwang D, Park J, Kim KJ, Zhang J, Koo BK. Discrepancy between fractional flow reserve and instantaneous wave-free ratio: Clinical and angiographic characteristics. Int J Cardiol, 2017; 15;245: 63-68.
- 33. Dérimay F, Johnson NP, Zimmermann FM, Adjedj J, Witt N, Hennigan B, Koo BK, Barbato E, Esposito G, Trimarco B, Rioufol G, Park SJ, Baptista SB, Chrysant GS, Leone AM, Jeremias A, Berry C, De Bruyne B, Oldroyd KG, Pijls NHJ, Fearon WF. Predictive factors of discordance between the instantaneous wave-free ratio and fractional flow reserve. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv, 2019; 94(3): 356-363.
- 34. Goto R, Takashima H, Ohashi H, Ando H, Suzuki A, Sakurai S, Nakano Y, Sawada H, Fujimoto M, Suzuki Y, Waseda K, Ohashi W, Amano T. Independent predictors of discordance between the resting full-cycle ratio and fractional flow reserve. Heart Vessels, 2021; 36(6): 790-798.
- 35. Warisawa T, Cook CM, Howard JP, Ahmad Y, Doi S, Nakayama M, Goto S, Yakuta Y, Karube K, Shun-Shin MJ, Petraco R, Sen S, Nijjer S, Al Lamee R, Ishibashi Y, Matsuda H, Escaned J, di Mario C, Francis DP, Akashi YJ, Davies JE. Physiological Pattern of Disease Assessed by Pressure-Wire Pullback Has an Influence on Fractional Flow Reserve/Instantaneous Wave-Free Ratio Discordance. Circ Cardiovasc Interv, 2019; 12(5): e007494.
- 36. Hwang D, Jeon KH, Lee JM, Park J, Kim CH, Tong Y, Zhang J, Bang JI, Suh M, Paeng JC, Na SH, Cheon GJ, Cook CM, Davies JE, Koo BK. Diagnostic Performance of Resting and Hyperemic Invasive Physiological Indices to Define

Myocardial Ischemia: Validation With ¹³N-Ammonia Positron Emission Tomography. JACC Cardiovasc Interv, 2017; 10(8): 751-760.

- 37. Lee SH, Choi KH, Lee JM, Hwang D, Rhee TM, Park J, Kim HK, Cho YK, Yoon HJ, Park J, Song YB, Hahn JY, Doh JH, Nam CW, Shin ES, Hur SH, Koo BK. Physiologic Characteristics and Clinical Outcomes of Patients With Discordance Between FFR and iFR. JACC Cardiovasc Interv, 2019; 12(20): 2018-2031.
- 38. DEFINE-FLAIR Trial Investigators, Lee JM, Choi KH, Koo BK, Dehbi HM, Doh JH, Nam CW, Shin ES, Cook CM, Al-Lamee R, Petraco R, Sen S, Malik IS, Nijjer SS, Mejía-Rentería H, Alegria-Barrero E, Alghamdi A, Altman J, Baptista SB, Bhindi R, Bojara W, Brugaletta S, Silva PC, Di Mario C, Erglis A, Gerber RT, Going O, Härle T, Hellig F, Indolfi C, Janssens L, Jeremias A, Kharbanda RK, Khashaba A, Kikuta Y, Krackhardt F, Laine M, Lehman SJ, Matsuo H, Meuwissen M, Niccoli G, Piek JJ, Ribichini F, Samady H, Sapontis J, Seto AH, Sezer M, Sharp ASP, Singh J, Takashima H, Talwar S, Tanaka N, Tang K, Van Belle E, van Royen N, Vinhas H, Vrints CJ, Walters D, Yokoi H, Samuels B, Buller C, Patel MR, Serruys P, Escaned J, Davies JE. Comparison of Major Adverse Cardiac Events Between Instantaneous Wave-Free Ratio and Fractional Flow Reserve-Guided Strategy in Patients With or Without Type 2 Diabetes: A Secondary Analysis of a Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Cardiol, 2019; 4(9): 857-864.
- 39. Petraco R, Park JJ, Sen S, Nijjer SS, Malik IS, Echavarría-Pinto M, Asrress KN, Nam CW, Macías E, Foale RA, Sethi A, Mikhail GW, Kaprielian R, Baker CS, Lefroy D, Bellamy M, Al-Bustami M, Khan MA, Gonzalo N, Hughes AD, Francis DP, Mayet J, Di Mario C, Redwood S, Escaned J, Koo BK, Davies JE. Hybrid iFR-FFR decision-making strategy: implications for enhancing universal adoption of physiology-guided coronary revascularisation. EuroIntervention, 2013; 8(10): 1157-65.
- 40. Hennigan B, Oldroyd KG, Berry C, Johnson N, McClure J, McCartney P, McEntegart MB, Eteiba H, Petrie MC, Rocchiccioli P, Good R, Lindsay MM, Hood S, Watkins S. Discordance Between Resting and Hyperemic Indices of Coronary Stenosis Severity: The VERIFY 2 Study (A Comparative Study of Resting Coronary Pressure Gradient, Instantaneous Wave-Free Ratio and Fractional Flow

Reserve in an Unselected Population Referred for Invasive Angiography). Circ Cardiovasc Interv, 2016; 9(11): e004016.

- 41. Collet JP, Thiele H, Barbato E, Barthélémy O, Bauersachs J, Bhatt DL, Dendale P, Dorobantu M, Edvardsen T, Folliguet T, Gale CP, Gilard M, Jobs A, Jüni P, Lambrinou E, Lewis BS, Mehilli J, Meliga E, Merkely B, Mueller C, Roffi M, Rutten FH, Sibbing D, Siontis GCM; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2020 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevation. Eur Heart J, 2021; 42(14): 1289-1367.
- 42. Zir LM, Miller SW, Dinsmore RE, Gilbert JP, Harthorne JW. Interobserver variability in coronary angiography. Circulation, 1976; 53(4): 627-632.
- 43. Brown BG, Bolson E, Frimer M, Dodge HT. Quantitative coronary arteriography: estimation of dimensions, hemodynamic resistance, and atheroma mass of coronary artery lesions using the arteriogram and digital computation. Circulation, 1977; 55(2): 329-337.
- 44. Rathod KS, Koganti S, Jain AK, Astroulakis Z, Lim P, Rakhit R, Kalra SS, Dalby MC, O'Mahony C, Malik IS, Knight CJ, Mathur A, Redwood S, Sirker A, MacCarthy PA, Smith EJ, Wragg A, Jones DA. Complete Versus Culprit-Only Lesion Intervention in Patients With Acute Coronary Syndromes. J Am Coll Cardiol, 2018; 72(17): 1989-1999.
- 45. Wald DS, Morris JK, Wald NJ, Chase AJ, Edwards RJ, Hughes LO, Berry C, Oldroyd KG; PRAMI Investigators. Randomized trial of preventive angioplasty in myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med, 2013; 369(12): 1115-1123.
- 46. Gershlick AH, Banning AS, Parker E, Wang D, Budgeon CA, Kelly DJ, Kane PO, Dalby M, Hetherington SL, McCann GP, Greenwood JP, Curzen N. Long-Term Follow-Up of Complete Versus Lesion-Only Revascularization in STEMI and Multivessel Disease: The CvLPRIT Trial. J Am Coll Cardiol, 2019; 74(25): 3083-3094.
- 47. Mehta SR, Wood DA, Storey RF, Mehran R, Bainey KR, Nguyen H, Meeks B, Di Pasquale G, López-Sendón J, Faxon DP, Mauri L, Rao SV, Feldman L, Steg PG, Avezum Á, Sheth T, Pinilla-Echeverri N, Moreno R, Campo G, Wrigley B, Kedev S, Sutton A, Oliver R, Rodés-Cabau J, Stanković G, Welsh R, Lavi S, Cantor WJ, Wang J, Nakamya J, Bangdiwala SI, Cairns JA; COMPLETE Trial Steering

Committee and Investigators. Complete Revascularization with Multivessel PCI for Myocardial Infarction. N Engl J Med, 2019; 381(15): 1411-1421.

- 48. Dönmez E, Koç M, Şeker T, İçen YK, Çayli M. The assessment of non culprit coronary artery lesions in patients with ST segment elevated myocardial infarction and multivessel disease by control angiography with quantitative coronary angiography. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging, 2016; 32(10): 1471-1476.
- 49. Hanratty CG, Koyama Y, Rasmussen HH, Nelson GI, Hansen PS, Ward MR. Exaggeration of nonculprit stenosis severity during acute myocardial infarction: implications for immediate multivessel revascularization. J Am Coll Cardiol, 2002; 40(5): 911-916.
- 50. Cuculi F, De Maria GL, Meier P, Dall'Armellina E, de Caterina AR, Channon KM, Prendergast BD, Choudhury RP, Forfar JC, Kharbanda RK, Banning AP. Impact of microvascular obstruction on the assessment of coronary flow reserve, index of microcirculatory resistance, and fractional flow reserve after ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol, 2014; 64(18): 1894-1904.
- 51. Corday E, Kaplan L, Meerbaum S, Brasch J, Costantini C, Lang TW, Gold H, Rubins S, Osher J. Consequences of coronary arterial occlusion on remote myocardium: effects of occlusion and reperfusion. Am J Cardiol, 1975; 36(3): 385-394.
- 52. Uren NG, Crake T, Lefroy DC, de Silva R, Davies GJ, Maseri A. Reduced coronary vasodilator function in infarcted and normal myocardium after myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med, 1994; 331(4): 222-227.
- 53. Díez-Delhoyo F, Gutiérrez-Ibañes E, Sanz-Ruiz R, Vázquez-Álvarez ME, González Saldívar H, Rivera Juárez A, Sarnago F, Martínez-Sellés M, Bermejo J, Soriano J, Elízaga J, Fernández-Avilés F. Prevalence of Microvascular and Endothelial Dysfunction in the Nonculprit Territory in Patients With Acute Myocardial Infarction. Circ Cardiovasc Interv, 2019; 12(2): e007257.
- 54. Lee SH, Kim HK, Lee JM, Hong YJ, Lim KS, Kim HB, Choi KH, Shin ES, Nam CW, Doh JH, Yang JH, Song YB, Hahn JY, Choi SH, Jeong MH, Samady H, Escaned J. Coronary Circulatory Indexes in Non-Infarct-Related Vascular Territories in a Porcine Acute Myocardial Infarction Model. JACC Cardiovasc Interv, 2020; 13(10): 1155-1167.

- 55. Musto C, De Felice F, Rigattieri S, Chin D, Marra A, Nazzaro MS, Cifarelli A, Violini R. Instantaneous wave-free ratio and fractional flow reserve for the assessment of nonculprit lesions during the index procedure in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: The WAVE study. Am Heart J, 2017; 193: 63-69.
- 56. Ntalianis A, Sels JW, Davidavicius G, Tanaka N, Muller O, Trana C, Barbato E, Hamilos M, Mangiacapra F, Heyndrickx GR, Wijns W, Pijls NH, De Bruyne B. Fractional flow reserve for the assessment of nonculprit coronary artery stenoses in patients with acute myocardial infarction. JACC Cardiovasc Interv, 2010; 3(12): 1274-1281.
- 57. Wood DA, Poulter RS, Boone R, Lim I, Bogale N, Starovoytov A, Lempereur M, Shiekh I, Humphries K, Owens C, Buller C, Mancini J, Cairns J and Wong GC. Stability Of Non Culprit Vessel Fractional Flow Reserve In Patients With ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol, 2013; 62 (18 Supplement 1) B191.
- 58. Layland J, Rauhalammi S, Watkins S, Ahmed N, McClure J, Lee MM, Carrick D, O'Donnell A, Sood A, Petrie MC, May VT, Eteiba H, Lindsay M, McEntegart M, Oldroyd KG, Radjenovic A, Berry C. Assessment of Fractional Flow Reserve in Patients With Recent Non-ST-Segment-Elevation Myocardial Infarction: Comparative Study With 3-T Stress Perfusion Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Imaging. Circ Cardiovasc Interv, 2015; 8(8): e002207.
- 59. van der Hoeven NW, Janssens GN, de Waard GA, Everaars H, Broyd CJ, Beijnink CWH, van de Ven PM, Nijveldt R, Cook CM, Petraco R, Ten Cate T, von Birgelen C, Escaned J, Davies JE, van Leeuwen MAH, van Royen N. Temporal Changes in Coronary Hyperemic and Resting Hemodynamic Indices in Nonculprit Vessels of Patients With ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction. JAMA Cardiol, 2019; 4(8): 736-744.
- 60. Thim T, Götberg M, Fröbert O, Nijveldt R, van Royen N, Baptista SB, Koul S, Kellerth T, Bøtker HE, Terkelsen CJ, Christiansen EH, Jakobsen L, Kristensen SD, Maeng M. Nonculprit Stenosis Evaluation Using Instantaneous Wave-Free Ratio in Patients With ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction. JACC Cardiovasc Interv, 2017; 10(24): 2528-2535.

- 61. Smits PC, Abdel-Wahab M, Neumann FJ, Boxma-de Klerk BM, Lunde K, Schotborgh CE, Piroth Z, Horak D, Wlodarczak A, Ong PJ, Hambrecht R, Angerås O, Richardt G, Omerovic E; Compare-Acute Investigators. Fractional Flow Reserve-Guided Multivessel Angioplasty in Myocardial Infarction. N Engl J Med, 2017; 376(13): 1234-1244.
- 62. Engstrøm T, Kelbæk H, Helqvist S, Høfsten DE, Kløvgaard L, Holmvang L, Jørgensen E, Pedersen F, Saunamäki K, Clemmensen P, De Backer O, Ravkilde J, Tilsted HH, Villadsen AB, Aarøe J, Jensen SE, Raungaard B, Køber L; DANAMI-3—PRIMULTI Investigators. Complete revascularisation versus treatment of the culprit lesion only in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction and multivessel disease (DANAMI-3—PRIMULTI): an open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet, 2015; 386(9994): 665-71.
- 63. Elbadawi A, Dang AT, Hamed M, Eid M, Prakash Hiriyur Prakash M, Saleh M, Gad M, Mamas MA, Rahman F, Elgendy IY. FFR- Versus Angiography-Guided Revascularization for Nonculprit Stenosis in STEMI and Multivessel Disease: A Network Meta-Analysis. JACC Cardiovasc Interv, 2022; 15(6): 656-666.
- 64. Bainey KR, Engstrøm T, Smits PC, Gershlick AH, James SK, Storey RF, Wood DA, Mehran R, Cairns JA, Mehta SR. Complete vs Culprit-Lesion-Only Revascularization for ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Cardiol, 2020; 5(8): 881-888.
- 65. Puymirat E, Cayla G, Simon T, Steg PG, Montalescot G, Durand-Zaleski I, le Bras A, Gallet R, Khalife K, Morelle JF, Motreff P, Lemesle G, Dillinger JG, Lhermusier T, Silvain J, Roule V, Labèque JN, Rangé G, Ducrocq G, Cottin Y, Blanchard D, Charles Nelson A, De Bruyne B, Chatellier G, Danchin N; FLOWER-MI Study Investigators. Multivessel PCI Guided by FFR or Angiography for Myocardial Infarction. N Engl J Med, 2021; 385(4): 297-308.
- 66. Li Kam Wa ME, De Silva K, Collet C, Perera D. FLOWER-MI and the root of the problem with non-culprit revascularisation. Open Heart, 2021; 8(2): e001763.
- 67. Lee JM, Kim HK, Park KH, Choo EH, Kim CJ, Lee SH, Kim MC, Hong YJ, Ahn SG, Doh JH, Lee SY, Park SD, Lee HJ, Kang MG, Koh JS, Cho YK, Nam CW, Koo BK, Lee BK, Yun KH, Hong D, Joh HS, Choi KH, Park TK, Yang JH, Song YB, Choi SH, Gwon HC, Hahn JY; FRAME-AMI Investigators. Fractional flow

reserve versus angiography-guided strategy in acute myocardial infarction with multivessel disease: a randomized trial. Eur Heart J. 2022; ehac763.

- 68. Omar A, Senguttuvan NB, Ueyama H, Kuno T, Beerkens F, Rahim M, Elmariah H, Takagi H, Abdulkader RS, Yallanki HP, Pelliccia F, Mylavarapu DP, Claessen B, Pasceri V, Dangas G. Meta-Analysis Comparing Fractional Flow Reserve and Angiography-Guided Complete Revascularization of Nonculprit Artery for ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction. Am J Cardiol. 2022; 183: 8-15.
- 69. Cerrato E, Mejía-Rentería H, Dehbi HM, Ahn JM, Cook C, Dupouy P, Baptista SB, Raposo L, Van Belle E, Götberg M, Davies JE, Park SJ, Escaned J. Revascularization Deferral of Nonculprit Stenoses on the Basis of Fractional Flow Reserve: 1-Year Outcomes of 8,579 Patients. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2020; 13(16): 1894-1903.
- Liou KP, Ooi SM, Hoole SP, West NEJ. Fractional flow reserve in acute coronary syndrome: a meta-analysis and systematic review. Open Heart, 2019; 6(1): e000934.
- 71. Piróth Z, Fülöp G, Boxma-de Klerk BM, Abdelghani M, Omerovic E, Andréka P, Fontos G, Neumann FJ, Richardt G, Smits PC. Correlation and Relative Prognostic Value of Fractional Flow Reserve and Pd/Pa of Nonculprit Lesions in ST-Segment-Elevation Myocardial Infarction. Circ Cardiovasc Interv, 2022; 15(2): e010796.
- 72. Böhm F, Mogensen B, Östlund O, Engstrøm T, Fossum E, Stankovic G, Angerås O, Ērglis A, Menon M, Schultz C, Berry C, Liebetrau C, Laine M, Held C, Rück A, James SK. The Full Revasc (Ffr-gUidance for compLete non-cuLprit REVASCularization) Registry-based randomized clinical trial. Am Heart J, 2021; 241: 92-100.
- 73. Piróth Z, Boxma-de Klerk BM, Omerovic E, Andréka P, Fontos G, Fülöp G, Abdel-Wahab M, Neumann FJ, Richardt G, Abdelghani M, Smits PC. The Natural History of Nonculprit Lesions in STEMI: An FFR Substudy of the Compare-Acute Trial. JACC Cardiovasc Interv, 2020; 13(8): 954-961.
- 74. Stone GW, Maehara A, Lansky AJ, de Bruyne B, Cristea E, Mintz GS, Mehran R, McPherson J, Farhat N, Marso SP, Parise H, Templin B, White R, Zhang Z, Serruys PW; PROSPECT Investigators. A prospective natural-history study of coronary atherosclerosis. N Engl J Med, 2011; 364(3): 226-235.

- 75. Kedhi E, Berta B, Roleder T, Hermanides RS, Fabris E, IJsselmuiden AJJ, Kauer F, Alfonso F, von Birgelen C, Escaned J, Camaro C, Kennedy MW, Pereira B, Magro M, Nef H, Reith S, Al Nooryani A, Rivero F, Malinowski K, De Luca G, Garcia Garcia H, Granada JF, Wojakowski W. Thin-cap fibroatheroma predicts clinical events in diabetic patients with normal fractional flow reserve: the COMBINE OCT-FFR trial. Eur Heart J, 2021; 42(45): 4671-4679.
- 76. Stone GW, Maehara A, Ali ZA, Held C, Matsumura M, Kjøller-Hansen L, Bøtker HE, Maeng M, Engstrøm T, Wiseth R, Persson J, Trovik T, Jensen U, James SK, Mintz GS, Dressler O, Crowley A, Ben-Yehuda O, Erlinge D; PROSPECT ABSORB Investigators. Percutaneous Coronary Intervention for Vulnerable Coronary Atherosclerotic Plaque. J Am Coll Cardiol, 2020; 76(20): 2289-2301.
- 77. Wood DA, Cairns JA, Wang J, Mehran R, Storey RF, Nguyen H, Meeks B, Kunadian V, Tanguay JF, Kim HH, Cheema A, Dehghani P, Natarajan MK, Jolly SS, Amerena J, Keltai M, James S, Hlinomaz O, Niemela K, AlHabib K, Lewis BS, Nguyen M, Sarma J, Dzavik V, Della Siega A, Mehta SR; COMPLETE Investigators. Timing of Staged Nonculprit Artery Revascularization in Patients With ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction: COMPLETE Trial. J Am Coll Cardiol, 2019; 74(22): 2713-2723.
- 78. Vriesendorp PA, Wilschut JM, Diletti R, Daemen J, Kardys I, Zijlstra F, Van Mieghem NM, Bennett J, Esposito G, Sabate M, den Dekker WK. Immediate versus staged revascularisation of non-culprit arteries in patients with acute coronary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Neth Heart J, 2022; 30(10): 449-456.
- 79. den Dekker WK, Van Mieghem NM, Bennett J, Sabate M, Esposito G, van Bommel RJ, Daemen J, Vrolix M, Cummins PA, Lenzen MJ, Boersma E, Zijlstra F, Diletti R; BioVasc Trial Investigators. Percutaneous complete revascularization strategies using sirolimus-eluting biodegradable polymer-coated stents in patients presenting with acute coronary syndrome and multivessel disease: Rationale and design of the BIOVASC trial. Am Heart J, 2020; 227: 111-117.
- 80. Stähli BE, Varbella F, Schwarz B, Nordbeck P, Felix SB, Lang IM, Toma A, Moccetti M, Valina C, Vercellino M, Rigopoulos AG, Rohla M, Schindler M, Wischnewsky M, Linke A, Schulze PC, Richardt G, Laugwitz KL, Weidinger F,

Rottbauer W, Achenbach S, Huber K, Neumann FJ, Kastrati A, Ford I, Ruschitzka F, Maier W; MULTISTARS AMI Investigators. Rationale and design of the MULTISTARS AMI Trial: A randomized comparison of immediate versus staged complete revascularization in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction and multivessel disease. Am Heart J, 2020; 228: 98-108.

- 81. Ahn JM, Park DW, Kim SO, Kang DY, Lee CH, Lee PH, Lee SW, Park SW, Park SJ. Prognostic Value of Resting Distal-to-Aortic Coronary Pressure in Clinical Practice. Circ Cardiovasc Interv, 2020; 13(5): e007868.
- 82. Shin D, Lee SH, Lee JM, Choi KH, Hwang D, Lee HJ, Jang HJ, Kim HK, Kwak JJ, Ha SJ, Song YB, Shin ES, Doh JH. Prognostic Implications of Post-Intervention Resting Pd/Pa and Fractional Flow Reserve in Patients With Stent Implantation. JACC Cardiovasc Interv, 2020; 13(16): 1920-1933.

9. BIBLIOGRAPHY OF THE CANDIDATE'S PUBLICATIONS RELATED TO THE THESIS:

- Piróth Z *, Fülöp G*, Boxma-de Klerk BM, Abdelghani M, Omerovic E, Andréka P, Fontos G, Neumann FJ, Richardt G, Smits PC. Correlation and Relative Prognostic Value of Fractional Flow Reserve and Pd/Pa of Nonculprit Lesions in ST-Segment-Elevation Myocardial Infarction. Circ Cardiovasc Interv, 2022; 15(2): e010796. *Dr Piroth and Dr Fulop were both primary authors.
- Piróth Z, Boxma-de Klerk BM, Omerovic E, Andréka P, Fontos G, Fülöp G, Abdel-Wahab M, Neumann FJ, Richardt G, Abdelghani M, Smits PC. The Natural History of Nonculprit Lesions in STEMI: An FFR Substudy of the Compare-Acute Trial. JACC Cardiovasc Interv, 2020; 13(8): 954-961.
- Fülöp G, Csanádi B, Fülöp D, Piróth Zs. Többszörös coronaria léziók és diffúz coronaria betegség funkcionális értékelése. [Functional assessment of serial coronary lesions and diffuse coronary disease.] Orv Hetil, 2022; 163(48): 1902-1908.

BIBLIOGRAPHY OF THE CANDIDATE'S PUBLICATIONS UNRELATED TO THE THESIS:

- Piróth Z, Fülöp G, Csanádi B, Fontos G, Andréka P, Nyolczas N, Szolnoky J. A háromér-betegség kezelése a FAME-3 vizsgálat eredményeinek tükrében. [Treatment of triple-vessel disease in light of the result of FAME-3 trial.] Orv Hetil, 2022; 163(26): 1032-1036.
- Becker D, Soos P, Berta B, Nagy A, Fulop G, Szabo G, Barczi G, Belicza E, Martai I, Merkely B. Significance of off-hours in centralized primary percutaneous coronary intervention network. Croat Med J, 2009; 50(5): 476-482.
- Becker D, Maurovich-Horvat P, Barczi G, Szabó G, Fulop G, Nagy A, Molnar L, Apor A, Belicza E, Merkely B. Life after coronary stent thrombosis. Med Sci Monit, 2009; 15(5): CR 236-241.

- Merkely B, Toth-Zsamboki E, Becker D, Beres BJ, Szabó G, Vargova K, Fulop G, Kerecsen G, Preda I, Spaulding C, Kiss RG. Very late drug-eluting stent thrombosis after nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug treatment despite dual antiplatelet therapy. Can J Cardiol, 2009; 25(4): 229-232.
- Fülöp G, Berta B, Merkely B. A gyógyszerkibocsátó sztentekkel kapcsolatos legújabb információk. [Most recent data on drug-eluting stents.] Lege Artis Med, 2008; 18(1): 39-42.
- 6. Szabó Gy, Laczkó Á, Becker D, Molnár L, Fülöp G, Szilágyi Sz, Szeberin Z, Acsády Gy, Merkely B. Kardiogén sokkal szövődött miokardiális infarktus primer PCI-t követő intraorticus ballonpumpa kezelése bilateralis arteria iliaca communis elzáródás miatt bal arteria axillaris felőli behelyezéssel. [Intraaortic ballon pump treatment after primary PCI for myocardial infarction complicated by cardiogenic shock with insertion from left axillary artery due to bilateral iliac artery occlusion.] Cardiol Hung, 2007; 37(4): 276-278.
- Szilagyi S, Merkely B, Zima E, Kutyifa V, Szucs G, Fulop G, Molnar L, Szabolcs Z, Geller L. Minimal invasive coronary sinus lead reposition technique for the treatment of phrenic nerve stimulation. Europace, 2008; 10(10): 1157-1160.
- Szilagyi S, Merkely B, Roka A, Zima E, Fulop G, Kutyifa V, Szucs G, Becker D, Apor A, Geller L. Stabilization of the coronary sinus electrode position with coronary stent implantation to prevent and treat dislocation. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol, 2007; 18(3): 303-307.
- Becker D, Szabó G, Gellér L, Hüttl K, Kerkovits G, Fülöp G, Acsády G, Merkely B. ST-elevációval járó akut myocardialis infarctus primer percutan coronaria intervencióval történó ellátása. [Treatment of acute ST-elevation myocardial infarction with primary percutaneous coronary intervention.] Orv Hetil, 2004; 145(12): 619-623.

10. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to thank my colleague, Zsolt Piróth, MD, PhD for his continuous, indescribable high-quality professional and human assistance without which this thesis could not have been completed. His strong work ethics, professional and scientific knowledge and his quality of work are exemplary for me. I would like to thank him for his inspiration, guidance and suggestions which improved the quality of this document.

I would also like to thank my colleagues at Gottsegen National Cardiovascular Center who support me during my work. I would especially like to thank the valuable help of our scientific manager, Hilda Zsanett Marton.

Last but not least I am grateful for my wonderful family members who are always there for me.